Welcome to Zabierzów Commune

The Zabierzów commune is a rural commune in the district of Kraków, in Małopolska. It has a surface area of 99.6 sq km, what makes it one of the largest communes in the province. It is situated in the southern part of the Kraków and Częstochowa Upland, near the Krzeszowicki Trench. The commune of Zabierzów borders with Kraków, Liszki, Krzeszowice, Jerzmanowice and Wielka Wieś. 

There are 23 village administrator’s districts in the commune: Aleksandrowice, Balice, Bolechowice, Brzezie, Brzezinka, Burów, Karniowice, Kleszczów, Kobylany, Kochanów, Młynka, Niegoszowice, Nielepice, Pisary, Radwanowice, Rudawa, Rząska, Szczyglice, Ujazd, Więckowice, Zabierzów and Zelków.

The population is 21,725 and the density is about 214.6 per sq km (twice the national average). The number of the inhabitants is steadily increasing due to the fact that many people come here from other parts of the region, especially from Cracow.

Good localisation and well-developed infrastructure as well as natural resources make the Zabierzów commune ‘the suburban area with great potential’. The growing number of investors, now reaching 20_2 business entities, has already appreciated the favourable conditions by establishing their companies in the area. Within the commune’s borders, there are, for example, the International Airport Balice-Kraków, the Opencast Mine of Road Materials, and the department of the Cracow Cooperative Bank in Zabierzów. In Balice, there is the National Research Institute of Animal Production, which is one of the largest Polish scientific research institutes, but there are also many private companies such as: ALSAL – producing aluminium framework; ASPEL – designing and producing electronical medical equipment; GELLWE – producing bakery products. Well-developed technical infrastructure (complete gasification and water-supply system) is also one of the incentives to invest in the area. Moreover, efficient sewage system and handling of municipal refuse make the Zabierzów commune one of the best communes in terms of waste management.

The whole area of the commune is under protection due to its cultural, historical and natural values. There are three nature reserves: the Bolechowicki Gorge, the Kluczwody valley and the Kmita. Rock. There are also numerous interesting walking and cycling paths, especially the one leading from the disused quarry in Zabierzów to the Kmita Rock. Moreover, the commune may take pride in a very good communicational network: there is A-road number 4 and a motorway (marked A-4) joining the Eastern part of Europe with the Western one; there is also A-road number 79 from Cracow to Silesia. What is more, the presence of the International Airport Kraków-Balice provides an easy access to many places in the world. There is also a railway network crossing the commune, with two railway stations, one in Rudawa, and another one in Zabierzów. If you want to get to Cracow, you can do it easily by using the public transport system.

     The Local Council of Zabierzów follows consistently the Spatial Development Scheme of the Commune, in which areas devised for commercial as well as for dwelling purposes are enumerated. The Board of the Commune has so far approved the spatial development schemes for Bolechowice, Brzezie, Ujazd, Zelków, Zabierzów and Kochanów.   

Aleksandrowice


The village was first mentioned in 1401. It was a noble property at that time and its first known owners was a noble family called Aleksandrowski whose coat of arm was Topor. In the 16th century Aleksandrowice belonged to Jan (Iwan) Kamiński, one of the first and most eager adherents of  the Reformation in Poland. After the Calvinist church in Cracow was destroyed for the third time by students and commonalty, Jan Kamiński gave his manor house in Aleksandrowice to the Calvinist commune of Cracow. The services in Polish and German were held there since the 23rd of May 1591. 

On the 14th of April 1613 the manor house in Aleksandrowice was ruined. After that attack the church existed for several years owned by a Calvinist, Piotr Gołuchowski who maintained and repaired the building. After his death, his son, Samuel Gołuchowski, who became Catholic, cancelled the religious functions of the manor house (around 1620-1630). From the 17th and 18th centuries date a well conserved landscape park and a group of manorial buildings where the Institute of Zootechnics of the Polish Academy of Sciences is located now.      

Balice

It was mentioned under the name of Belici in a bull in 1229. In 1286, the owner of Balice, knight Grzegorz, called Żegociec, from the Topor family, forbade the Dominicans from Cracow to built a system transferring water from the Rudawa river through the village Krowodrza. Next, the knight joined a rebellion against the king Leszek Czarny who, in turn, confiscated all his lands and sentenced the knight to death. Nevertheless, the Topor family came back to Balice at the beginning of the 15th century, where, in 1403, they built a wooden manor house on a hill.

Some extraordinary people were born in Balice in the medieval times. Andrzej of Balice took part in a tournament in Buda in 1412. The very same Andrzej appeared at the council in Constance in 1416. Also, he was a legate of Zygmunt Luksemburski to the king Władysław Jagiełło. He died in 1420, in a battle against the Żiżka's troups,  in Wyszehrad near Prague. In 1444, Jan and Mikołaj of Balice fought in Warna. Żegota of Balice and his sons, Piotr and Jan, were the students at the Academy of Cracow, ancestor of the Jagiellonian University.

At the beginning of 16th century, Balice passed into the heritage of a German family called Boner. Seweryn Boner built a wooden palace here, that burnt in 1535. In its place they built a brick palace from which some wooden doors to the cellars still remain in their place. 

Seweryn Boner passed to the local legend as the one who didn't want to give his daughter's hand to the poor knight Kmita. After Seweryn's death, Balice was herited by his son Jan who died childlessly in 1562. After him, the estate was herited by Zofia Bonerówna, Jan Firlej's of Dąbrowica wife, Seweryn Boner's daughter. In Jan Firlej's times there was a Protestant church in Balice. It was suppressed by his son, Mikołaj, the next heir of the estate. In 1560, there were two mills in the village, one of them serving to the production of paper. The paper factory in Balice was situated at the river's Rudawa banks, westward of the Kmita Rock. It belonged to Bonerowie who rented it to the printers from Cracow. 

Balice kept constantly falling and the greatest damage to the village was done by the Swedes in 1655, during the siege of the neighbouring seat of Tęczyńscy. Since that time, called the "Swedish flood", the famous palace of Balice was continuously destroyed. At that moment, the Szembek family became its new owners. The first of them was Franciszek Szembek. After him came his son Jan, the Great Crown Chancellor, who pulled down the old palace and built a new one. Urszula Darowska, the next heiress, rebuilt it in the Italian style in 1807. Later, it became a property of the comtess Sołtysowa. In the end of the 19th century the Homolacz family bought the estate. After them the Radziwiłł family owned the palace. The prince Dominik Radziwiłł rebuilt it in 1887-1894, accordingly to the project of Tadeusz Stryjeński, and it is to him that we owe the present appearance of the palace. It is a seat of the Experimental Station of the Zootechnics Institute.

Because the air force needed a place for their future airport, some grounds in Balice were expropriated in 1953. During two years (1954-1956) they built a runway with full lightning and navigation equipment. In 1964 the Ministry of National Defence rented 10 hectares of grounds for the civil airport. The first cruise airplane of the Polish Airlines LOT  landed in Balice on the 19th of February 1964. 

In December 1966 they built a passenger hall of the surface of 620 sq m. In 1972 a lightning was added to the runway. At the beginning of 1984 the surface of the civil airport was enlarged by 6 hectares. In November 1995 the entire passenger terminal was put to use and the airport got the name of John Paul II International Airport Kraków-Balice. In January 2000 they opened a new Cargo Terminal.                    

Bolechowice

On the grounds of contemporary Bolechowice, there was a medieval settlement. A treasure consisting of silver coins, from the first part of the 11th century, was found here. The history of Bolechowice is known back to the year 1243, when the king Bolesław Wstydliwy gave a part of the village to Prandota, the bishop of Cracow. Bolechowice became a bishops' property. In 1325, a parish was established here, belonging to the deanery Prandocin.

The first reference to the church in Bolechowice comes from  the year 1325. However, its oldest parts - a brick presbytery and a sacristy, built by the bishop Piotr Wysz - date from 1393. The nave was built in the 15th-17th centuries, then elongated in the years 1912-1913. From that time dates the church's tower.

In the church, there are still Gothic bells from the year 1545. This kind of bells is very rare now because they were usually melted down to produce other things or confiscated by the army. In the main altar, there is a JanTycjusz painting representing the Crucification. Most of the church's interior equipment comes from the second half of the 16th century, including the objects made of black marble, a baptismal font, epitaphs.

From the 17th to the 19th century, there was a hospital in Bolechowice, maintained by the parish. The inventory of the parish from 1838 describes it as a thatched building composed of two small rooms.

The last bishop who stayed in Bolechowice was Jan Paweł Woronicz. He used to write his idylls there. The village was then bought from the government of the Free Town of Cracow by a colonel of Polish army called Bochenek, and next by a certain Gołemberski. Finally, it became a property of the Ożegalski family.

The first school in Bolechowice was opened on the 21st of February 1819. In 1874, it was a one-room school with two grades and one teacher.

In Bolechowice, one must see a beautiful, visible from the distance, rock "gate", about 30 meters high, leading into a charming little Bolechowicka Valley. 

Brzezie

It is one of the oldest villages of the commune. Three early medieval settlements were found on its grounds. Brzezie was first mentioned in historical documents in 1260, when the king Bolesław Wstydliwy gave it to the chapter of Cracow. From the 13th century dates the division of the village between  Brzezie Narodowe, property of the chapter of Cracow, and Brzezie Szlacheckie, property of the local aristocracy. 

In 1464, the king Kazimierz Jagiellończyk changed the Polish location laws of Brzezie and other villages belonging to the chapter of Cracow, to the Magdeburg laws.  In 1868, the first school was founded in the village. Before, the children from Brzezie went to school to Zabierzów.   

Brzezinka

The first reference concerning Brzezinka, which was at that time a property of the chapter of Cracow and belonged to the dean, comes from 1427. In 1441, Brzezinka received a royal privilege from the king Władysław Warneńczyk who confirmed, at the request of the dean Mikołaj Lasocki, owner of the village, its Magdeburg laws. It was peculiar that, in the middle of the 15th century, there were no characteristic manorial elements in the village, such as a manor house or farm buildings.  The manor house was built in the 50s of the 16th century. In the 20th century, several important institutions were founded on the grounds of Brzezinka. In 1908, the first library of the Popular Education Association was opened, and, in 1913, a one-class school was already working in the village. The first Agricultural Mutual-Aid Society started its activity. A church was built in 1983-1987 and, in 1991, the Saint Mary Mother of the Church parish was established in Brzezinka. In the village, there is also a chapel whose construction started in 1991.

Brzoskwinia

The first written mention about the village comes from the year 1325 and its name at that time was Woskyne. Brzoskwinia was a feudal property. In the years 1415-1437 its owner was Andrzej Rup, called Brzoskiński or Wrzoskiński. At the end of the 19th century the area belonged to the count Artur Potocki and was a part of the so called Krzeszowicki entail. 

It is certain that in 1880 there was a school in Brzoskwinia. At that time the village counted 65 houses and 419 inhabitants.

Burów

The earliest note concerning the village dates 1415 and it has the name of Burow then. It was a feudal property too, and from 1415 to 1518 it belonged to Balice. In the years 1470-1480 its owner was Jan Ossoliński, who was also a proprietor of  Balice. The timber from the woods surrounding the village of Burów was very much wanted by the people from the neighbourhood. The sources say that in 1493 a certain Andrzej Leksandrowski was cutting trees in the wood near the village Burów, property of Jan Ossoliński from Balice. 

Karniowice

Karniowice was first mentioned in 1286, being then a property of a prince. After 1286, it went into the hands of Sułek from Niedźwiedź, a noble man, who got it from Leszek Czarny. Sułek, whose coat of arms was Stary Koń, was a chatelain of Cracow. Karniowice was then granted with many privileges. In case of the prince stopping in Karniowice, the village had to give him boarding, a coach and a guard. If there was a murder in the village, the convicts were to be judged in presence of the prince, the penalty being however in the competence of Sułek. Also, the prince gave to the new owner the right to judge and sentence the inhabitants by "kije" (sticks).

On the 12th of May 1624, thanks to the efforts of the heir of Karniowice, Jerzy Pipan, doctor of medicine and law, city's of Cracow councillor, professor at the Cracow and Padua universities, the St Mary Madeleine chapel was built and consecrated in a garden on a hill.

In 1666, Stanisław from Brzezie Wojeński, canon of Cracow, at that time the owner of Karniowice, renovated the chapel. Since then Karniowice went by succession or by purchase to the Morsztyn, Ossolińscy, Meciszewscy and Burtynowscy families. In 1836, it was bought by Stanisław from Mieroszewice Mieroszewski, former marechal of the Cracow district and the deputy to the state council. He discovered a hay store house in the chapel, no mass was celebrated there since several years. He renovated the chapel, decorated it sculptures of evangelists and a new painting of Saint Mary from Częstochowa. In 1860, he obtained the permission to celebrate the mass there. In 1878, the count Sobiesław Mieroszewski could reintroduce the traditional church fair with the possibility of getting an indulgence, taking place every year, on the 18th of November.

We can visit in Karniowice an entirely preserved early baroque chapel from 1624, covered with an original dome. There is also a manor house from the second half of the 18th century, reconstructed in 1860. It is covered with a multi-line roof, decorated on the sides by unusual octagonal architectural details.         

Kleszczów

From the earliest time of its existence it belonged to a noble family. The first reference to the village comes from 1306, when Spyter was the lord of the manor. The village was mentioned then as “de Klessczoua”. From 1404 to 1429 Jan Aleksandrowski was the owner of the village, as well as of the neighbouring Aleksandrowice. Originally, Kleszczów was the seat of the Aleksandrowscy family of the Topór coat of arms. There is a chapel in the village, which was consecrated with the name of the Holy Virgin of Neverending Assisstance in May 1995.

Kobylany

The first written mention of Kobylany comes from 1399. The next one, from 1419, informs about the existence of an inn in the village. The subsequent one says about a mill that was functioning there at the time. It is also known that from the 15th century Kobylany was the property of the deanery of Cracow. In 1441 Władysław Warneńczyk, at Mikołaj Lasocki’s , the dean of Cracow in the years 1438 and 1450, request, changed the villages' of the deanery of Cracow location laws, Kobylany among them, onto the German laws (they were located according to the Polish laws). In 1464 Kazimierz Jagiellończyk confirmed the change. At the end of the 15th century there were three inns in Kobylany, one of them called Lipka, which lay outside the village (today it is a part of Więckowice). It is highly probable that many brawls took place in those inns, because a resident of Dubie sued one of the inn-keepers of Kobylany because he 'had inflicted two gaping wounds on the face and one serious bruise on him'. Later an inn-keeper from Kobylany sued two peasants from Ujazd because of  'three serious wounds inflicted to him'.

In 1883 there already existed a one-class school in Kobylany. In the years 1985-1990 a church was built here. In 1991 a parish church of the Elevation of  The Holy Cross was erected here. The residents of Kobylany and Więckowice are its parishioners. The village fell within the Bolszewice parish before. There is a brick chapel from the first half of the 19th century, located in the area previously occupied by the manor house. A place worth visiting is the Kobylańska Valley, the most extraordinary of all the valleys that lie near Cracow. If you take a walk down the valley you will discover a marvellous scenery – rocks and sky. There is a painting of the Holy Virgin between the rocks called the Monk and the Frog Horse. It is put in an indentation in a rock at the height of a dozen or so metres and one can see beautiful scenery from the stairs laeding to it. 

Kochanów

In the past it had many names. First, it was called Podchełmie, Zachełmie, then Chrostyor Chrusty until it finally came to be known as Kochanów. Jan Długosz, a chronicler, recorded that the Więckowice village adjoined the Chełm village and the River Rudawa was a border between them. In 1476 an inn belonging to the Aleksandrowice estate had its location here. Then the settlement spread round the inn growing into a village of considerable size. It belonged to a noble family.

The most interesting building in Kochanów is a wooden villa built in 1896 – the Lubomirscy’s hunting-lodge. Until 1913, every year, about 80 children from Cracow and Vienna spent their summer holidays there. During the First and the Second World Wars orphaned children and the ones who did not have anyone to take care of them found shelter there. The villa has housed a primary school since 1955.

Młynka

The first reference to the village comes from 1418, in which a nameless village administrator of Młynki is mentioned. This testifies to the fact that the village already existed then and was built accordingly to the Magdeburg law. It is known that in the 16th century there were two mills and an inn called Podbornia in the village.

Niegoszowice

The first mention about the village comes from 1397. In the second half of the 15th century Niegoszowice was a village owned by yeomanry. A grange and a grand manor with a tower, which all belonged to Jan Niegoszewski were situated here.

In 1565 Stanisław Niegoszewski, a poet writing in Latin, a prominent composer, and a polyglot (he produced his compositions in 5 languages) was born here. At the end of the 16th century he was appointed a Secretary to the king Zygmunt III Waza. He died very young, being only 35 years old. In the 17th century Niegoszowice was the property of the Firley family. In 1728 it was taken over by the Kameccy family. In the first years of the 19th century the dean of the chapter of Cracow, Michał Sołtyk had the palace built and it stands until today. Later, Jan Kanty Bobrowski was the owner of the manor. In 1832, the colonel Benedykt Zielonka, a participant of the famous  charge at Samosierra and the November Uprising, bought it. At the end of the 19th century the prince Eugeniusz Lubomirski was the proprietor of the palace. From 1902 till 1910, a well-known historian, Stanisław Smolka, lived in it. In 1912, the estate was taken over by count Piotr Rostworowski, and the palace was the property of his family up to the sixties, when the United Economic Body “Veritas” in Cracow took possession of it. The classicist palace in Niegoszowice is of great monumental value. Between the years 1983 and 1986 it was thoroughly renovated. There is a landscape park from the 18th century, which stretches over the area outside the palace.

Nielepice

In 1400, Małgorzata Nawojowska from Nielepice, who probably was the owner of the village, is mentioned by the sources. During the 16th and 17th centuries the Tęczyny estate comprised a part of Nielepice. The other part of the village was in the hands of yeomanry members called Nielepce. A cross standing on a rock is a characteristic element of the landscape. This is a fourth one in this place. The first one was put up here thanks to Franciszek Namysłowski, who was a curate in Rudawa from 1874 till 1875. The present cross has been here since 21st April 1971. One can see a marvellous view over the surronding areas from here.

Pisary

The earliest mention of Pisary comes from 1319. It is comprised in a foundation document of the Tenczynek village issued by Nawoja from Tęczyn. A certain Grzegorz from Pisary  was recorded there as a witness. Żegota from Pisary and Dubie, a standard-bearer of Cracow,  was the owner of the village from 1397 to 1409. Undoubtedly, Piotr from Pisary, the queen’s chamberlain and steward was his son and owned the village from 1412 to 1442. In the middle of the 15th century Żegota from Pisary, a burgrave of the Cracow Castle, was the proprietor of it. In the second half of the 15th century there were two manors and they belonged partly to Żegota and Rafał Pisarscy (who were also called ‘ryterscy’ because they rented the Rytro Castle) and Grzegorz from Paczółtowice. 

The Pisarscy family sold a part of the village to the bishop of Łódź and the Dobrzańscy-Trembeccy couple before 1725. However, they still lived in the vilage, because they were the owners of it till the end of the pre-partition era in Poland. After the death of Anna Żeleńska née Pisarska in 1804 the Sołtyk family became the owners of Pisary. Anastazja Sołtykowa née Rudnicka debitted the Pisary estate with considerable sums of money, raising in the years 1818-1819 loans of 60 000 złoty in total from the Government of the Free Town of Cracow, and it forced her in the end to sell the estate to Józef Grunbaum. However, he didn’t manage to get rid of the debts, so he sold a part of it to Samson Frankl and they together resold it to the countess Catherine Potocka née Branicka. The Pisary estate was subsequently joined to  the Tęczyny county. In the middle of the 19th century, there was an alcohol distillery, where aqua-vitae was made in Pisary, the Pottoccy’s property. There were also a paper-factory, two mills, one of which was still operating, a wooden sawmill and a brick–kiln. One could also find here black marble mines and limestone quarries. What remained from other centuries till now is a seventeenth-century granary. It is a storeyed brick building with thick walls and square in its circumference. There is also a marble columnar figure with an iron cross from 1706 worth noticing.

Radwanowice

The tradition passed down from generation to generation says that a knight called Radwan, who turned very courageous during Bolesław Śmiały’s campaign to Kiev Russia, was the founder of Radwanowice. He is supposed to have been a confidential knight to the king. During the dispute between the  bishop of Cracow Stanisław and the king, Radwan is supposed to have been one of the killers of the bishop. After the murder of St Stanislaw, king Bolesław Śmiały had to leave his kingdom and Radwan settled down in Radwanowice.

The oldest written mention of Radwanowice can be found in king Władysław Łokietek’s diploma from 1329. Długosz recorded that Radwanowice belonged to the Rudawa parish. There were no peasants and all the people who lived there were members of nobility of the Radwanowye coat of arms. They were given charters and were soldiers but some were obliged to pay sheaf tithes proportionally to the quantity and types of crop they harvested. The nobility of Radwanowice was characterized by poverty and lack of liege subjects. What’s more, they had to pay taxes, which most of other nobility were exempted from. Nonetheless, they exercised many charters, the most worth noticeable of which was the inviolability of one’s house (1558). The right didn’t allow a nobleman’s estate to be searched even if an outlaw was hidden there. Many residents of the neighbouring villages exercised this right . After having comitted a crime  they ran to the safe Radwanowice.

There were two underground military organistaions in Radwanowice during the World War II: the National Organisation and Peasants’ Battalions. Radwanowice was a small village then; at the beginning of 1943  only 749 residents lived there. On the night from 20th and 21st July in 1943 Radwanowice was invested from all sides by a large number of the SS soldiers, gendarmerie, Wehrmacht soldiers and the “navy-blue uniform” policemen. 

Otto Zeiss, a commanding officer of German police in Zabierzów, arrived in the besieged village. He came with a large group of gestapo soldiers tugging a shoemaker on a rope, who had been arrested and then made to point out the people whose names were on the list previously prepared by the Germans. The investigation was carried out at the village administrator’s parcel. At the beginning of the pacificatory operation they chose young people, who, surronded by soldiers, had to dig ceaselessly a large hole in the ground. Led by the Germans, the condemned people walked by their own graves. The investigation was conducted by four SS soldiers assissted by Otto Zeiss. It finally turned into atrocious tortures inflicted on the suspects, who were beaten till they lost conscioussness or they were even nailed down to a barn. Thirty residents of Radwanowice were sentenced to death., and then immediately executed. On 21st July 1945, on the second anniversary of the execution, the residents of the village fenced off the place were it was carried out and erected a cross; on the fourth anniversary the Monument in Rememberance of  the Victims was unveiled at the cementary in Rudawa. 

Rudawa

The earliest mention of Rudawa comes from the 12th century. Probably then, they started to build the parish church, which was one of the first wooden structures in Poland. In 1325 there was already a parish in Rudawa and several neighbouring villages fell into its area.

During the January Uprising, the inn called Werbownia, which lay at the confluence of the road from Rudawa and theKraków-Katowice route, was one of the stations of transferring people and weapon from Galicia to the Kingdom of Poland.In the fifteenth century there was a parish school in Rudawa. Such schools taught reading, church singing and sometimes writing.

The splendid church in Rudawa is one of the most valuable sacral monuments near Cracow. As the legend has it, a knight called Radwan wanted to obtain God’s pardon because he took part in the killing of bishop Stanisław, and he decided to build a church in Radwanowice. Unfortunately, what was built during the day was subsequently moved by an unknown force to Rudawa. Thus seeing God’s will in it, Radwan settled to build the church here. A small presbytery is the oldest part of the church. It dates from 1300 and this allows to recognize it as one of the oldest brick structures in the Małopolska province. About 1400 the church in Rudawa was described as partly wooden. The present nave was built later, at the end of the 15th century. What is interesting, there are numerous circular holes in the lower parts of the presbytery walls. According to the tradition, they were drilled during the consecration of swords carried out by knights before they set off to fight in a war campaign.

 There is a painting of the Holy Virgin dated from about 1450 in the high altar of the church. It is a gothic version of the  Byzantine Hodegetria. The painting in Rudawa is one of the oldest of this type and also one of the most precious ones as the background of it is covered with gold foil. There is another important monument – a low tower serving as a belfry which constitues an extension to the church in Rudawa. It is one of the oldest pillar-and-frame constructions of this sort. The tower in Rudawa is the oldest one of similar church towers. It was erected in 1541 and this date is carved out on a unit of construction. 

In 1896 Antonina Domańska had the first brick building in Rudawa erected and an eminent architect Tomasz Pryliński was the one who designed it. A Nobel prize winner Henryk Sienkiewicz (a writer) lived in this villa in the summer of 1908.

Szczyglice

In the 14th century the village was the property of the Toporczyk-Tęczyńscy family.

In 1507, Seweryn Bethman became the tenant of Szczyglice. In 1517 the Ossolińscy family sold the Szczyglice, Balice and Burów estates to Zofia, who was the late Seweryn Bethman’s daughter and Seweryn Boner’s wife. In the 15th century these three villages became to be called the Balice key in the tax register. However, there was a mill only in Szczyglice. There is a Holy Heart of Jesus Christ chapel in the village.

Ujazd

At the end of the 15th century a part of Ujazd belonged to Jan Tęczyński – a castellan of Cracow. At the end of the 19th century Ujazd was a small settlement. There were only 17 houses and 153 residents (65 men and 86 women) in the village. 144 of the inhabitants were Roman Catholics of the Bolechowice parish, 9 of them were Israelites. In the first half of the 20th century Stanisław Jałbrzykowski was the owner of  the Ujazd estate. It is noted in the chronicles that there was a fire in the manor in 1905. Some buildings were completely burnt and the fire was extinguished after several days. Only some parts of the manor has been preserved until today and now they are used by the Department of Zootechnics.

Więckowice

In the 15th century it belonged to the Więckowice prebend of the bishopric of Cracow and Jan Długosz, a historian, held sway over it. At the beginning of the 15th century an inn called Lipka, founded on the plough-lands of Kobylany mixed with those of Więckowice, started to appear in various sources. In the course of time the inn was transformed into a separate settlement, which is now a part of Więckowice.

The most interesting building in Więckowice is a former manor complex from the 19th century ( the one-time seat of the Skrzyńscy family) which consists of a one-storey neogothic manor house, a granary, a coach-house which was rebuilt and now it forms a chapel and a laundry.

The former pigsty was transformed into a dwelling-house in the sixties of the 20th century . All these buildings are located in a vast park, in which one can find several very old trees, recognised as monuments of nature. Since 1953, the whole former manor complex has been occupied by the National Society of Social Help for Adults. 

Zabierzów

In the place of what later became Zabierzów, there was a small settlement called Rogoźnik, belonging to Jaksa Gryfita from Miechów. He gave the settlement, in 1162, to the convent of St Norbert sisters, that he himself founded in Zwierzyniec. Thanks to the efforts of the sisters, the village continually developed. In 1293, a citizen from Cracow, named Piotr, bought 5 "łan" (historical Polish measure) of land in Rogoźnik. He promised to pay the rent and to be a juridicial supervisor for the peasants. His functions were similar to those of a contemporary village administrator. Probably, it was him who sold a part of the land to a man called Zabierza or Zabierz whose family name passed down to the village itself. It was noted for the first time in some convent documents in 1368. The old Rogoźnik was incorporated into Zabierzów and soon forgotten. In the 17th century, after the convent in Zwierzyniec was burnt during the war with the Swedes, called "Swede flood", the nouns moved to Zabierzów which was their seat for a year. In 1745 a great fire consumed the manor house, the granary, the barns and peasant houses. Since that time a part of Zabierzów - the fields near a wood, in the South-West of the church - has been called Pogorzany. At the end of the 18th century the entire Zabierzów burnt in another fire, easily spread among wooden and thached buildings. After that tragedy people deserted the place and settled in the countryside. This was a beginning of a new quarter - Nawsie. Since then the development of the building area has continued along the Cracow - Silesia road. In 1936, the road was paved with granite cobblestone. The railroad built in 1848, connecting Cracow with Mysłowice, caused a dynamic development of Zabierzów. In the second half of the 19th century, they built a train station, and then a post office. The emperor Franz Joseph visited the station several times on his way to Balice, invited by the prince Radziwiłł, or to inspect the manoeuvres of his army. 

In 1891, thanks to the generosity of rich peasants, a chapel was built, on the communal square, near the convent garden. 

In 1907 a presbytery was built to the project of an architect Jan Zubrzycki. Next, they also built the organist's house and prepared a place for the cemetary. Nevertheless, they had to wait a year til the cardinal Jan Puzyna established an independent  parish in Zabierzów on the 21st of August 1908. It had to be attached to the parish church in Modlnica until a new church in Zabierzów was constructed. At the moment of the separation from the Modlnica parish, Zabierzów counted 1280 inhabitants.

In 1909, they decided to fund a new church, to the project of an architect Józef Kryłowski. On the 18th of June 1912, the dean W. Siedlecki, from Mogiła, held a ceremony of setting the corner stone of the new church whose construction finished in 1936, and the consecration took place two years later.

During the World War II, young people from Zabierzów fought in the Polish Underground Forces, and their leader was Mieczysław Pogan, eighteen years old. His entire family was arrested and sent to the concentration camp in Auschwitz.

After the World War II Zabierzów became an industrial place. There was a Machine Construction Company, organised in the place of an old factory that used to produce nails. In 1969, a department of the Cracow Cooperative Bank was opened in Zabierzów. A new building of the Town Hall was finished in 1978. An interesting architectural element of Zabierzów is an old wooden-brick villa, on Krakowska street. It was built in 1901, to the project of Jan Zubrzycki. In the wood near Zabierzów, by the river Rudawa, there is a beautiful spot and place of excursions - the Kmita Rock. A local legend tells a tragic story of the knight Stanisław Kmita who, not given the hand of his beloved Olimpia Bonerówna from the nearby Balice, threw himself on a horse from that rock and died. In 1910, a cross was put on the rock as a memorial to the 500th anniversary of the Polish victory of Grunwald.               

Zelków

In the second half of the 15th century, accordingly to Jan Długosz, a part of the village was a royal property and belonged to the Ojców district, while the other part was under the Trzciana chief officer's power. Later, Zelków was incorporated to the bishopric estate. In 1838, the owner of the village was the government of the Free Town of Cracow. Next, it was sold and went into private hands. In Zelków, there is a sculpture of John Paul II, consecrated on the 25th of September by the cardinal Franciszek Macharski.

Zelków provides a spectacular scenic point with a view of Zabierzów, Cracow, and, when the weather's good, even the Tatra mountains.

Cultural Life of the Commune

The local Culture and Promotion Centre (SCKiPGZ) is the organiser of the most important cultural events in the entire commune. An extremely active and well cooperating team of employees and instructors of the Centre has to deal with twenty-three administrator's districts covering about 100 sq km. Almost 200 events organised every year are not only the periodical ones, such as the Family Picnic in the Kobylańska Valley, Kochankowo Days, Wreaths in Zelków or the Zabierzów Oscars, but also some new ideas appearing spontaneously like this year's promotional fair in the Zabierzów Quarry, realised with channel 3 of the public television, or the contest for the Super Village Administrator of the Cracow District.

However, the most important role of the Centre is organising regular activities for all the age groups. There are up to twenty workshops where more than 200 participants have an opportunity to have fun, learn and develop their interests. One can choose from artistic, educational, and recreational studios. The qualifications of the insrtuctors and teachers working in the Centre are of the highest standards, for instance the modelling workshop is run by the world champion of the rocket models, a professional musician from the Music Academy of Cracow gives the violin lessons, also a prosessional artist is in charge of the art atelier. The foreign languages' teachers come from the best language schools from Cracow. Young people taking part in theatre activities prepare two plays a year, performed then in the Centre itself but also in some other villages of the commune. Probably the most popular are dance lessons, not only the standard but also the acrobatic ones, with elements of rock'n'roll. Again, the instructors are the best specialists in their field, former professional sport dancers, now teaching at the Physical Education Academy in Cracow.            

The duties of the Centre embrace also creating  favourable conditions of work for the already existing bands, such as the Communal Brass Band, the Folk Orchestra or the Girl Vocal Band. These bands are created and run by professional musicians, a graduate from the Choir Conducting Faculty of the Music Academy of Cracow among them.

The Centre has also its own "First Floor Gallery". Its intense exhibitional activity, with famous painters, sculptors and photographers presenting their works, is not only a way of promotion of the Centre but most importantly a possibility of learning from the best sources. The work of the art gallery is so well organised thanks to the cooperation contract signed by the Zabierzów commune and the Jan Matejko Art Academy of Cracow.    

Tourism

The area between Cracow and Wieluń known as the Cracow and Częstochowa Upland or Jura is one of the most extraordinary places in Poland. It is build mainly of limestone that originated from the Jurassic Sea that used to cover the area about 140 million years ago. With time, marl sediments, accumulated at its bottom, underwent various denudative processes (erosion, weathering) that lead to the development of karstic formations such as: rocky valleys, gates, caves, channels, inselbergs or vauclusian springs. Most of them can be easily encountered in the southern part of the Cracow and Częstochowa Jura, which covers the Cracow Upland and the Garb Tęczyński (the Tęczynek Prominence). The area is situated to the north and northwest of Cracow, and it encompasses the commune of  Zabierzów. What is more, there are numerous walking, cycling and riding paths. 

The area constitutes one of the most picturesque parts of the Cracow and Częstochowa Jura, with small charming valleys, caves and multiple karst springs. In 1998 the Jurassic Communities Association together with the Environment Partnership Foundation created the so called Jurassic Ring, which encompasses nine communes within the Jurassic Landscape Parks. The Ring is a tourist route bypassing main communicational networks and showing the real beauty of the Jurassic parts of the Cracow Upland. It leads through Liszki, Czernichów, Alwernia, Babice, Krzeszowice, Jerzmanowice, Przeginia, Wielka Wieś, Zabierzów and goes back to Cracow. The route is well marked, and that helps not only in finding interesting spots or natural or historical monuments, but also in learning more about them. 

Dolina Bolechowicka (the Bolechowicka Valley), one of the smallest valleys in the area of Cracow, is situated to the north of the village of Bolechowice. Its length is about 1,500 meters, but the lower part of the valley, and the proper one, is only 700 meters long. Its upper part, very narrow, without any rock formations, but heavily overgrown, is rarely visited by the tourists. The lower part of the valley, on the other hand, is a typical ravine with high and steep slopes running from the north to the south. At its bottom there is a stream that near Zabierzów joins with another one flowing from the Dolina Kobylańska (the Kobylańska Valley), and then they both flow into the Rudawa. At the entrance of the valley there are two huge rock formations facing each other and making the Brama Bolechowicka (the Bolechowicka Gate). It is one of the most beautiful places, which can also be used for rock-climbing. The Dolina Bolechowicka is a landscape reserve.

Dolina Kobylańska (the Kobylańska Valley) is a sort of a canyon with jagged edges on both of its sides. The spaces between them are covered either with slide-rocks or with grass. The bottom of the valley is filled with rock debris. The gorge is about 4.5 km long and only in the middle of its length, the forest, standing against the white limestone, appears. In the bottom of the gorge you can come across quite glades or dales with springs of cold water. There is also the Brynia that at one time disappears in the underground fissures, just to reappear a couple of meters further. The entrance to the gorge is formed by two high rocks resembling a gate and situated just at the end of the village of Kobylany. The valley runs in the northwestern direction. The rock formations on the two sides of the gorge have very original names (invented by mountain-climbers), like Turnia Bodzio (Bodzio Rock Tower), or Turnia Żabi Koń (Frog Horse Rock Tower).

Dolina Kluczwody (the Kluczwody Valley) is 5.5 km long and it stretches from the farmstead Zelkowa-Gacki in the south to Bębło in the north. The name of the valley that can be translated into English as “Weaving water” illustrates how it meanders and constantly changes its direction. In fact near the village of Wierchowice a stream, called in the upper part of the valley Wierzchówka, and in the lower one – Kluczwody, starts flowing. It leaves the valley in Gacki, passes Ujazd and Brzezie, and, at the western edge of Zabierzów, it flows into the Rudawa. The valley makes then a sudden turn right, and the rock formations on the western slope gradually disappear, while on the eastern side huge and massive rocks come into sight. Among them there is a group of rocks called Pienin that resembles a long wall and the Wronia Baszta (the Crows’ Turret) situated close nearby. The valley, with its variety of rock formations, climbs higher and higher. There is also the spring of the Brynia. Only after some time, the rocks start disappearing and the valley becomes shallower, till it reaches the plateau in the vicinity of Kawior, where it ends. The Dolina Kluczwody is a woodland reserve.

